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Old River Road Of Long Ago Recalled 
 

 

By Clifton Wood (C.W.) Bransford 
 

 

Messenger & Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, Sunday, 14 June 1931, pp.1B & 9B: 
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Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 25 August 2016, pp1B & 6B: 

 

Old River Road was the height of local culture 
 

By Keith Lawrence, Messenger-Inquirer 

 

 In the late 19th century, C.W. Bransford was publisher of Owensboro's leading 

newspaper - The Messenger. He moved in the circles of high society. 

On June 14, 1931, years after Bransford had left the newspaper business, the Messenger-

Inquirer published a lengthy article in which he described those social circles of long ago. 

''Owensboro, Ky., in the long ago had a settlement along the Ohio River, that, for 

beautiful women and gallant men rivaled even'' Richmond, Va., and Charleston, S.C., for culture 

and refinement, Bransford wrote. 

The Old River Road, as it was known in those days, ''skirted the Ohio from Smock's flour 

mill (Second and Clay) for several miles,'' he wrote. 

It was ''lined with majestic forest trees, making it one of the most beautiful thoroughfares 

the best traveled persons had ever seen,'' Bransford said. 

He went so far as to claim that ''no strip of ground a quarter-mile wide and five miles 

long in the United States afforded habitation for a greater number of distinguished men.'' The list 

Bransford put together included one U.S. district attorney, one member of Congress, one officer 

each in the U.S. Army and Navy, two U.S. ministers to foreign countries, three bank presidents, 
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two colonels in foreign wars, one former cabinet officer, one circuit judge and one U.S.  

senator. 

There was even a guard to Napoleon. 

Bransford, whose wife, Virgie Lee Finley, was the niece of a Florida congressman, fit 

right in. He was described as a man with auburn hair, a red mustache and brown eyes. 

In September 1878, when he was 20, Bransford became a partner in The Messenger. Two 

years later, he and J.A. Munday bought the Examiner and merged the two papers. 

The following year, Bransford bought out Munday. And in 1882, he brought in Urey 

Woodson as a partner. Woodson would carry the paper on until it merged with the Inquirer in 

1929. 

In his description of those bygone Daviess County days, Bransford waxed eloquent. 

A person ''would fain describe in living language the feminine beauty and culture that 

graced the drawing rooms of their stately mansions did he feel equal to the task,'' he wrote. 

His sentences were sometimes long and hard to follow. But Bransford left no doubts of 

how great he thought that society was. 

''Those who shared the bounteous hospitality of their homes and have been witness of 

their culture and refinement will wish that more attention were given the present day to the 

culture of the mind and good manners than to the sordid accumulation of money and the wild, 

reckless striving after what is supposed to constitute 'a good life,' '' he wrote. 

Here's the list he compiled of the homes of the then rich and famous: ''Cornland,'' Col. 

Joseph Hamilton Daveiss' 5,000-acre estate. Daveiss, the man for whom the county is named, 

married Nancy Marshall, the sister of Chief Justice John Marshall of the U.S. Supreme Court, in 

1805. 

The following year, he built a large two-story brick house far back on the ridge from the 

River Road ''giving him a splendid view of the Ohio River from the beautiful Bon Harbor hills to 

the Rockport bend - a distance of about six miles - one of the most picturesque stretches,'' 

Bransford wrote. 

Daveiss, the first attorney living west of the Allegheny Mountains to argue a case before 

the U.S. Supreme Court, opened a law office in Owensboro. 

He was appointed U.S. District Attorney by President Thomas Jefferson and conducted 

the prosecution of Aaron Burr for treason in 1810. 

He was killed Nov. 7, 1811, in the Battle of Tippecanoe at age 37. 

The first house past Clay Street was the residence of William B. Pegram, a tobacco 

exporter who moved here from Virginia in 1850. 

The two-story frame house was painted white with green shutters and set back from the 

road. There was an orchard in front. 

Pegram and his wife, the former Amelia Hawes, had a daughter named Meme who 

married David Hamilton of Glasgow, Scotland. Hamilton moved to Owensboro in 1859 and built 

a large tobacco factory at Second and Center streets. 

They ''erected a palatial two-story brick residence on the Pegram tract.'' But the couple 

soon moved to Louisville and eventually Detroit. 

John A. Faulds, another Scotsman, in 1857 built next door to the Hamilton house ''a 

handsome two-story brick and his well-kept yard added much to the beauty of the old road.'' 

Faulds bought the Leo Sims tobacco factory, which was built in 1857. He died July 10, 1880. 

The next house, Bransford wrote, belonged to William H. Kearney, who ''kept a grocery 

and supply house on Frederica Street near First. At first he built his residence, a four-room brick 
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so close to the river that it had to be torn down on account of the erosion of the bank and to make 

way for the road which had to be moved back.'' Next was Riverside, ''a white frame house with a 

large front yard, adorned with a profusion of flowers. (It was) built by Joseph Thomas, who 

came here in 1837, bringing with him from his former New Orleans home, the bed which 

General LaFayette slept in while in New Orleans during his tour of the United States in 1824.'' 

Thomas ''also had a half dollar given him by General Andrew Jackson in 1828.'' He was circuit 

clerk of Daviess County for six years before becoming teller of the old Planters Bank and later of 

First National Bank. 

Thomas sold Riverside to Samuel M. Wing, a Greenville native. Wing was president of 

the Owensboro Academy, established in 1853. He was the father of Weir Wing, a captain in the 

Union Army, and Rumsey Wing, U.S. minister to Ecuador. 

Next was the home of George H. Yeaman, ''a large two-story red brick house that set 

back on the ridge, part of the original tract of Col. Daveiss.'' Yeaman came to Owensboro in 

1853 and married Lelia P. Triplett, daughter of Robert Triplett. 

He was elected county judge in 1854 and served as state senator from 1861 to 1863 and a 

member of the U.S. House of Representatives from 1862 to 1865. In 1865, Yeaman was 

appointed minister to Denmark. In 1870, he settled in New York City and became one of the 

city's leading lawyers. 

James C. Rudd came to Daviess County in 1857, bought land and erected a large two-

story frame house near where the Daveiss residence had stood until it burned in 1859. 

Rudd was ''a large shipper of mules to southern markets.'' Later, he founded one of the 

city's first fire insurance companies. 

''Just across the lane from the Daveiss tract was Haphazard, the residence of William 

Bell, who came to Daviess County in the 1840s. (He was) one of the directors of the Southern 

Bank of Kentucky in 1850 (and) became president in 1853.'' ''Just beyond the forks of the road 

where the Hardinsburg Road leaves the Hawesville Road was the residence of Col. Algernon S. 

Thruston, a colonel under Gen. Winfield Scott in the Texas War of Independence and later a 

member of President Samuel Houston's cabinet in the Lone Star state.'' He came to Daviess 

County in 1854 and died March 5, 1864. 

''Leading off the Hawesville Road and down to near the river was a beautiful avenue of 

honey locust and pecan trees that took you to Clifton Lodge, the residence of Burr Crutcher, 

formerly the home of George W. Mason, who died June 11, 1855.'' Crutcher came to Daviess 

County in 1856 and bought a 610-acre farm. When the house was destroyed by fire Jan. 23, 

1869, Crutcher ''replaced it with a substantial two-story brick. There was a regular steamboat 

landing at his place.'' ''On another part of the Mason tract was the residence of John P.  

Devereux who married Mason's daughter, Frederica. He was circuit judge in 1851, moved to 

Kansas City in 1859 and entered the railroad business.'' ''Adjourning the Thruston farm was that 

of Col. Colin S. Throckmorton, formerly an officer in the United States Navy.'' He died on Oct. 

25, 1878. His son, Maurice, became mayor of Birmingham, Ala.   

''Closer to the river and just beyond the Crutcher Farm was that of Thomas Clay who 

settled there in 1807 or 1808. He was the brother of Gen. Green Clay and uncle of Gen. Cassius 

M. Clay. He was a grandfather of Sen. Thomas Clay McCreery of Daviess County, who 

inherited the property.'' In 1836, Dr. Frank Fitzhugh Conway settled in the neighborhood. When 

his house burned on April 7, 1845, Conway moved to the western part of the county. 

''A little farther east was the place of Col. Justus Varien, who came here in the early 

1840s from New Orleans, bringing with him a large number of slaves. (He) was a distinguished 
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officer in the French army and was one of Napoleon's body guards. His wife died before coming 

to this country.   

     (He) had five beautiful daughters, none of whom married.'' Varien died May 10, 1872.  

     The last place on what was considered the old River Road settlement was Ingleside, the 

home of Dr. William C. Woolfolk. 

    It was, Bransford wrote, ''a large two-story frame and occupied a knoll commanding a 

fine view of the river and the surrounding country.'' Woolfolk, he wrote, was a physician in 

Brandenburg before moving to Daviess County in 1847. ''He was a considerable slave owner. 

Ingleside became one of the best cultivated farms in the county.'' Woolfolk was one of the first 

presidents of the Daviess County Agricultural and Mechanical Society, which was organized in 

1850. That group organized the first county fairs here. Woolfolk later served as president of the 

new Daviess County Fair Co. in 1872. He married the sister of Junius Alexander, who lived at 

Belle Forest - property later sold to Col. Throckmorton. Woolfolk died on April 4, 1876. 

………. 

 

History of Daviess County, Kentucky (Chicago: Interstate Publishing Co., 1883. pp.202-203: 

 
    C.W. Bransford was born in Owensboro, Ky., Jan. 24, 1858, a son of Benj. and Mary E. (Athy) 

Bransford; attended schools here but graduated in the literary course at Cumberland University Lebanon, 

Tenn., in June, 1877. He then attended the law school at Louisville, where he completed the junior course, 

and was elected salutatorian from this class, as a testimonial to his proficiency. He next accepted a 

temporary position in Clarke & Crutcher’s stemmery. At the close of the tobacco business for the season 

of 1878 he became sub-editor of the Messenger, under J.A. Munday. Within two months he was offered a 

partnership in the paper, which he accepted, in September, 1878, etc., as above noted. 

   Dec. 21, 1882, Mr. Bransford married Virgie Lee Finley, of Lebanon, Tenn., a daughter of Dr. 

W.M. Finley, a native of Clarksville, Tenn., and a niece of Congressman Finley, of Florida. Mr. 

Bransford is a young man of remarkable business and executive talent, and if he lives will make a bright 

mark in the world. If he should rise to political prominence, he will not be a “barking dog,” and he 

therefore might “bite,” where there is occasion in some contest. The Hopkinsville South Kentuckian truly 

says of him: “His style of writing possesses a degree of profundity far beyond his years when he is 

handling editorial subjects. He is very temperate, and is a model young man in his habits, although he 

does not belong to any church. Concerning his physical appearance the South Kentuckian thus words it: 

“His hair is a bright auburn, and he has a fine red mustache and brown eyes. He is very quiet in his 

demeanor, and loves his profession more than he does his sweet-heart!” 

 

 
Clifton Wood Bransford (1858-1936) 
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Owensboro Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 10 April 1910, p9: 
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An Illustrated Historical Map of Daviess County, KY. (Leo McDonogh & Co., 1876, p18 
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Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 14 February 1995, Community section p3: 
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Some Homes of the Old River Road 
 

 

 
 

Beech Woods home of Thomas Clay McCreery (1816-1890). 

From Owensboro Star, Owensboro, KY, 18 September 1968, p1 
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Home of Thomas Clay McCreery (1816-1890).  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 28 September 1975, p7E. 
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Home of Thomas Clay (1750-1824).  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 5 October 1975 p11A. 
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Home of Colin Shelton Throckmorton (1818-1878).  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 5 October 1975 p11A. 
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Home of Colin Shelton Throckmorton (1818-1878).  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 14 February 1995, Community section p3. 
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Home of Robert Triplett (1794-1853), Haphazard.  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 29 June 1975, p6C. 
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Home of Robert Triplett (1794-1853), Haphazard.  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 14 May 1989, p1F. 
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Home of Juste Nicola Vairin (1795-1872), Spend A Buck farm.  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 6 July 1986 p1C. 
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Home of Juste Nicola Vairin (1795-1872), Spend A Buck farm.  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 8 April 2009 p1A. 

 

 



26 
 

 
 

Home of Juste Nicola Vairin (1795-1872).  

From Messenger-Inquirer, Owensboro, KY, 20 July 1975, p5A. 
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Some Residents of Old River Road  
 

 
Burr Harrison Crutcher (1804-1902) 

 

 
Joseph Hamilton Daveiss (1774-1811) 
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John Pierre Devereux (1821-1881) 

 

 
Thomas Clay McCreery (1816-1890) 
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James Christopher Rudd (1833-1906) 

 

 
George Helm Yeaman (1829-1908) 


